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‘The lives of few men in history are richer in dramatic possibilities than was Coxinga’s. It is small wonder, then, that even those who have professed to be writing biographical accounts have been led into colourful tales which have every merit save that of truth.’


Donald Keene


‘For a thousand autumns, men will tell of this.’


Zhang Huang-yan
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PROLOGUE


1644: BRIGHTNESS FALLS



On 8 February 1644, the first day of the Chinese New Year, the ministers of the Emperor of Lofty Omens woke before dawn and journeyed through the streets of Beijing. At the break of day, in keeping with tradition that stretched back for centuries, they would greet their 33-year-old ruler, whom the gods had selected to reign over the entire world. Then, the assembled throng would welcome in the new year, the 4341st since China’s first, legendary kings, and entreat the gods and ancestors to bring them good fortune.


The city, however, was quiet. Many of its inhabitants had succumbed to a harsh outbreak of disease the previous year, and according to one diarist, ‘no babies had been born in the city for the previous six months’.1 Not all the ministers arrived at the palace on time. Those that did found the gates jammed shut, and were only able to open them with some difficulty. Eventually they found the Emperor of Lofty Omens, in the Hall of the Central Ultimate. He was weeping.2


China was doomed. The Dynasty of Brightness, the Ming, which had ruled the world’s largest nation for centuries, had lost its hold on power. A Confucian scholar would have been scandalised at the low attendance that morning; without a full complement of ministers, how could they perform the necessary ceremonies? But not even the Emperor himself bore a grudge against the absentees, or those who arrived late, wheezing breathless apologies. No amount of prayers and ceremony would change the inevitable, and no sacrifice, however elaborate, would attract the ancestors’ attention from the afterlife.


Besides, the Emperor could not afford it. Ever since the disastrous reign of his father, the nation’s budgets had spiralled wildly out of control. Attempts to curtail imperial luxuries were not enough, fundamental cornerstones of civilisation had gone to ruin. The Grand Canal to the south was falling into disrepair, and the postal system had been shut down. Smallpox had wrought havoc among the farming communities, who struggled in vain to tease crops from the earth – though few realised at the time, the middle of the seventeenth century gripped the world in a mini ice age. The same weather conditions that were then freezing over the Thames in London were also bringing deadly cold to the lands north of the Great Wall.


The unit of currency in seventeenth-century China was the tael, an ounce of silver. It took 400,000 taels each month to maintain and supply the troops who defended the northern border. The Finance Minister already knew that the money would run out before March. After that point, there would be little incentive for the soldiers who guarded the Great Wall to stay at their posts. The ministers expected the worst.


North of the Great Wall was China’s worst nightmare – the barbarian warriors of Manchuria had become increasingly bold in recent years. They had stolen former Ming territory from the Chinese, and even proclaimed that they were now the rightful rulers of China. Though they were nominally led by a child, the true power behind the throne was Prince Dorgon, a 32-year-old warrior who believed he could conquer the Celestial Empire in a matter of months. The Great Wall would hold the Manchus for a while, but once the money ran out, there was not much hope. China’s greatest general, Wu Sangui, held the crucial Shanhai pass where the Great Wall met the sea . . . if he could keep his men’s hearts on defending the Wall, then China might be able to hold out for a miracle.


The Emperor was fated to fall, but not at the hands of the Manchus. While the Great Wall still held, a new enemy struck from within. Starved of food and decimated by disease, a distant inland province rose up in revolt. An army of disaffected soldiers and peasants began to march on the capital city, led by the rebel Li Zicheng.


Li Zicheng, formerly one of the post-riders who delivered mail along China’s once-great roads, had been obsessed with seizing control of the Empire from his youth. Not even losing an eye in battle dimmed his ardour, as one old prophecy had predicted the Empire would fall to a man with only one eye. His previous dealings with other members of the imperial family had been less than favourable. During his campaigns, he not only killed the Emperor’s uncle the Prince of Fu, but drank his blood, mixing it into his venison broth.3 Li Zicheng was the leader of a horde of almost 100,000 soldiers, boiling across the country towards Beijing, gathering still greater numbers as peasants flocked to its banners proclaiming a tax-free future.


On New Year’s Day, as the Ming Emperor sat sobbing in his palace, Li Zicheng announced his intention to found a new dynasty. The Dynasty of Brightness, he said, had fallen. Long live the Da Shun, the Dynasty of Great Obedience.


With the usurper Li Zicheng advancing ever closer to Beijing, the Emperor of Lofty Omens knew it was time for drastic measures. Drunk and disoriented, he ordered for the Ming Heir Apparent to be smuggled out of the city. He gathered the rest of his family about him and informed them that it was time to die. Some of his wives and concubines had already committed suicide, and were found hanged or poisoned in their chambers. Others had fled. There was no such option for the immediate family of the Emperor, who attacked his own children with a sword. The fifteen-year-old Princess Imperial held out her right arm to stay his attack, and the Emperor hacked it off. The maimed girl fled screaming through the halls, leaving a trail of blood. Her younger sisters were not so lucky, and both died where they stood, stabbed by their own father. The Emperor then went to a nearby hilltop, where he wrote a final message in his own blood, before hanging himself as Li Zicheng’s army drew closer. Later writers would claim the Emperor’s last words blamed his ministers and his own ‘small virtue’ for the collapse of the Ming Dynasty, and exhorted the rebels to spare his people from suffering. In fact, the Emperor’s bleeding finger simply traced the plaintive, spidery characters ‘Son of Heaven’.4 His body lay undiscovered for three days.


On the battlements of the capital, guns boomed in the city’s defence, although they had no cannonballs and their reports were empty gestures of defiance. Astrological graffiti, scrawled on the wall of the palace itself, announced that the Ming star had fallen, and it was time to follow another. Li Zicheng rode into the capital in triumph, entering through the Gate of Heaven’s Grace. On a whim, he stopped beneath it and drew his bow, taking aim at the character for ‘Heaven’ on the gate’s lintel. He let an arrow fly, claiming that if he struck the word, it would be a sign that Heaven approved of his acts. It was an easy shot.


He missed.5


His men laughed it off and carried on into the town. Beijing belonged to Li Zicheng, and before long he would be enthroned by the ministers who had failed his predecessor, and, according to custom, failed themselves by not taking their own lives.


North of the Great Wall, General Wu Sangui was faced with a difficult choice – should he continue to face off the Manchus to the north, march south to retake the capital, or proclaim his allegiance to the usurper? When news reached him that his favourite concubine had been raped by Li Zicheng, he chose a fourth option. Wu Sangui sent a messenger to the Manchu army and invited them in.


The thousands of miles of the Great Wall, designed to protect China’s northern borders, were suddenly worth nothing. A combined army of Manchus and their new-found allies walked through the wide-open gates and marched on Beijing. Wu Sangui had betrayed his people, and north China was now a battleground between two rival rebels. The Ming Emperor lay dead, the selfproclaimed Shun Emperor was on the run at the head of his army, and now the invader Prince Dorgon ordered the enthronement of his nephew as a third contender – the new ruler of the Manchu Qing dynasty, the Dynasty of Clarity. The capital was lost.


Or rather Beijing, the northern capital was lost. Nanjing, the southern capital, lay several hundred miles away from the civil strife, home to a shadow government that had been preparing for the disaster for some time. Even as Li Zicheng fled from Beijing, and Dorgon proclaimed his nephew the new child-Emperor of China, the civil servants of Nanjing planned the Ming resistance. One emperor’s violent death did not mean that his dynasty was immediately finished, and the people of Nanjing were not about to submit to foreign invaders. They hoped they would be able to hold them off, and that their example would bring others rallying to their cause.


One man was crucial to the establishment of this ‘Southern Ming’ resistance. His name was Zheng Zhilong, though he was known to most foreign observers by his Christian name, Nicholas Iquan. The 41-year-old Iquan was a successful merchant and soldier, a former smuggler who had become the admiral of the Chinese fleet. He was the leader of a loose confederation of pirates and privateers, a warlord who was the de facto ruler of south-east China, and a man of such wealth and importance that some observers mistakenly referred to him as the King of South China. He preferred the term Lord of the Straits, referring to the thin channel that separated his main domains of Amoy and Taiwan.


Iquan was the kingmaker of the Southern Ming. His personal wealth was greater than that of some contemporary nations, and only he could fund the resistance effort that was to come. The newly created southern Emperor promised Iquan his eternal gratitude, and Iquan, sensing the opportunity for even greater power, offered his eternal service.


Within two years, Iquan would betray him and the Emperor would be dead. The Manchus would have a new ally, but the troubled Ming dynasty would gain one last hero – Iquan’s son Coxinga. The Zheng family, who began as pirates and privateers, would eventually become the kings of their own island domain. Their most famous son would become a god – twice.


It was the Manchus and the Dutch who called Coxinga a pirate, the English and the Spanish who called him a king. His Chinese countrymen called him both, depending on their mood. But he saw himself as neither; instead, he wanted to be known as a scholar and a patriot, unexpectedly plucked from a privileged upbringing and thrust into the forefront of a terrible war. A child prodigy from a wealthy trading family in seventeenth-century China, Coxinga became a nobleman at twenty-one, a resistance leader at twenty-two, and was a prince at thirty. The last loyal defender of the defeated Ming dynasty, he was the invincible sea lord who raided the coasts for ten years, before leading a massive army to strike at the heart of China itself. Still plotting to restore a pretender he had never seen, he was dead at thirty-nine, only to be canonised by his former enemies as a paragon of loyalty.


In a China that shunned contact with the outside world, Coxinga was a surprisingly cosmopolitan individual. His mother was Japanese, his bodyguards African and Indian, his chief envoy an Italian missionary. Among his ‘Chinese’ loyalist troops were German and French defectors. His enemies were similarly international, including Chinese relatives and rivals, the Dutch against whom he nursed a lifelong hatred, and the Manchus who invaded his country. Betrayed and deserted by many of his own friends and family, Coxinga’s stubborn character was most similar to that of his most famous foe – the Swedish commander whom he defeated in his last battle.


Famous for his pathological insistence on justice and correctness, Coxinga was ever troubled by his shadowy origins. His father was an admiral and the richest man in China, but also a crook who had cheated, murdered and bribed his way to the top of south China’s largest criminal organisation. Though Coxinga grew up in a palace, his family had clawed their way to their fortune, and had made many enemies in the process.


This, then, is the man that was known to European writers as that ‘heathen idolater and devil-worshipper’, the mutilator of his enemies and a heartless brute who could execute a Dutch priest and ravish the man’s bereaved daughter on the same day. But Coxinga is also the loyalist lauded by the Chinese as the last son of a departed dynasty, who steadfastly refused to surrender to foreign invaders when millions of his countrymen submitted willingly. He was demonised in Europe, deified in China, and remains a contentious figure to this day.


This is his story. It is also the story of his father, Nicholas Iquan, and of his deals and double-crosses with the Europeans he despised. To the superstitious, it is also the story of the goddess of the sea, and how she granted fortune on the waters to one family for forty long years. Though it ends with saints and gods, it begins with smugglers and pirates.




1


THE PIRATES OF FUJIAN



Cut off from the rest of China by a semicircle of high mountains, the south-eastern province of Fujian was almost a separate nation. The slopes that pointed towards the sea were carved into terraces, where the locals grew native produce like lychees and longans (‘dragon’s eyes’), tea and sugar-cane. Cash crops were the order of the day, and not merely for sale as exotic foodstuffs. The Fujianese grew flax for the manufacture of cloth, and mulberry trees for feeding silkworms. They were particularly renowned for their dyed silks, and locally grown indigo plants formed the basis for Fujian blue, while safflowers were harvested to make a multitude of reds. With textiles and a growing porcelain industry, the Fujianese were bound to seek trading opportunities, and the province’s walled-off existence afforded a unique possibility. The populace huddled in bays and estuaries, from which the easiest mode of transportation was by ship. The Fujianese became accomplished fishermen, and inevitably found other uses for their boats.


By command of the Emperor, China had no need for foreign trade. China was the centre of the world, and it was heresy to suggest that any of the barbarian nations had anything of value to offer the Celestial Empire. Occasional parties of foreigners were admitted to bear ‘tribute’, arriving in China with fleets of goods, which would be graciously exchanged between government agents for treasures of equivalent value, but it was a cumbersome way of doing business, and, by its very nature, excluded private entrepreneurs.


Two hundred years earlier, in the heyday of the Ming dynasty, the mariner Zheng He had sailed across the Indian Ocean in a fleet of massive vessels, returning from distant lands with bizarre beasts and stories. He also bore ‘tribute’, assuring the Emperor that barbarians as far away as Africa had acknowledged him as the ruler of the world. However, after Zheng’s famous voyages, the Ming dynasty retreated into self-absorption once more, confident that there was little in the wider world worth seeing.


[image: images]


East Asia in the seventeenth century.


Iquan, the future Lord of the Straits, was born in 1603 in the small Fujianese village of Nan-an, near Amoy. The place had only two relatively minor claims to fame. The first was a strange rock formation at a nearby river-mouth, said by the locals to represent five horses – four galloping out to sea, while a fifth shied away, back towards land. Later writers would interpret this as referring to Iquan, his son Coxinga, his grandson Jing and two of his great-grandchildren, Kecang and Keshuang.


The second famous place in Nan-an was a rock, shaped like a crane, which bore an inscription by a philosopher of a bygone age who had been posted to the region as a civil servant. He had announced, to the locals’ great surprise, that the area would one day be the birthplace of ‘the Master of the Seas’. The same site was visited centuries later by the founder of the Ming dynasty, who was aghast at the powerful feng shui. He announced that the region risked becoming the birthplace of an Emperor, and ordered that the stone inscription should be altered. This act, it was later said, is what kept Iquan’s family from becoming the true rulers of all China.1


Iquan shared his surname, Zheng (‘Serious’), with the famous mariner of times gone by, but this was merely a coincidence. The historical Admiral Zheng was a eunuch and a Muslim from China’s interior, whereas Iquan hailed from a clan that had lived in coastal Fujian for generations. His father was Zheng Shaozu, a minor official in local government, while his mother was a lady of the Huang trading family.2 Shaozu seemed determined to bring respectability to his family, and encouraged his children in China’s most acceptable way of advancement. He was wealthy enough to afford a good education for his sons, and hoped that they would find success in the civil service examinations: the only way of achieving office in the Chinese government. Shaozu’s ambitions for his family were not uncommon, and Fujian province was a hotbed of academic endeavour – it sent more graduates into the civil service than any other province in China. However, Shaozu’s sons were to bring him an endless series of disappointments, and he did not live to see the incredible achievements of their later life. In the case of his eldest son Iquan,3 it was undeniable that the meek, conservative genes of the Zheng strain had lost out to the wild-card heritage of the Lady Huang, whose family, it was later discovered, were a group of reprobates involved in questionable maritime enterprises.


Iquan had many names in the course of his life, but was known at home simply as ‘Eldest Son’. As is common with some Chinese families even today, he and his brothers also concocted a series of semi-official nicknames. In the case of the Zheng boys, they named each other after imagined animal attributes. As the eldest, Iquan seized Dragon for himself – the noblest of Chinese beasts and the symbol of imperial authority. The next eldest brothers grabbed the next-best names – Bao the Panther, Feng the Phoenix and Hu the Tiger. An avian theme among the younger brothers implied they were the sons of a different mother, with names including Peng the Roc, Hú the Swan and Guan the Stork.


The chief source for the youth of Iquan is the Taiwan Waizhi or Historical Novel of Taiwan, a late seventeenth-century account of the pirate kings that mixes verifiable historical facts with fantastically unlikely tales of their deeds and accomplishments. As seems traditional for all Chinese books on figures who would later find fame, it begins by describing Iquan in familiarly glorious terms that would please any Confucian scrutineer. According to the Historical Novel, he was able to read and write by age seven, a not inconsiderable feat, and displayed a great aptitude for dancing and other forms of the arts. Before long, however, the Historical Novel slips from empty platitudes of child prodigy, and into accounts of events more in keeping with Iquan’s later life.


His most distinctive characteristic, evident even in his childhood, was his rakish charm, which often allowed him to get away with mischief. The first story of Iquan’s remarkable life takes place somewhere around 1610, when the boy was playing with his younger brother Bao the Panther in the street near the house of the local mayor Cai Shanzhi. Close within the walls of Cai’s gardens, the boys could see a lychee tree – the luscious fruits were native to Fujian, and highly prized. They tried to knock some of the ripe lychees down by throwing sticks into the branches, and, when the local supply of sticks was exhausted, tried using stones instead. Unfortunately for Iquan, one of his well-aimed rocks sailed past the tree and into the garden, where the unsuspecting mayor was sunning himself. It hit him on the head, causing him to fly into a rage and summon both Iquan and his father for disciplinary action.


However, the story goes that Cai’s anger immediately abated ‘when he saw the lovely child’, and instead of venting his anger he allowed the boy to go without punishment, announcing to the world that the future had great things in store for him.4


It is unlikely that Iquan’s father would have agreed, since he saw the boy as a nuisance. Iquan’s mother was not Shaozu’s principal wife, but merely a concubine, making Iquan little more than another troublesome mouth to feed. With at least six brothers and halfbrothers, it is highly likely that Iquan had a similar number of female siblings, though these remain unrecorded in chronicles about his life. Father and son fell out when Iquan’s mother’s looks began to fade, and her patron tired of her, but their chief causes for argument were mainly Iquan’s doing. In such a precarious family position, it would have been smart to avoid drawing unwelcome attention to oneself, and yet the teenage Iquan seemed to covet danger. As his boyhood high spirits gave way to surly adolescence, Iquan made a show of disobeying his father’s advice, and neglected his obvious academic potential. He was also caught in bed with his own stepmother, which was the final straw. Strictly speaking, Iquan had committed a capital offence and hastily left his home town for Macao, where, his father imagined, he was bound to come to a bad end.5


To most Chinese, Macao might as well have been a whole world away, several hundred miles down the Chinese coast, at the very edge of civilisation. South of Macao, there was nothing but the sweeping curve of what is now Vietnam, a land of questionable provenance in the eyes of the snobbish Chinese. Beyond that lay Malaya and the Indonesian Spice Islands – lands of opportunity, but also of savagery and danger. Conveniently positioned for trade at the mouth of the Pearl river estuary, Macao was originally founded as a trading post by merchants from Iquan’s native Fujian.


It was named after A-Ma-Gong, or Matsu, the sea goddess worshipped by all local sailors. Matsu had once been a mortal, a Fujianese virgin who had been able to leave her sleeping body in phantom form to rescue troubled sailors. After her death, sightings of her ghost were often reported in coastal communities, and sailors continued to make sacrifices to her in the hope of safe journeys.6 Reputedly, some of these offerings were even human sacrifices.


Macao’s new occupants, the Catholic Portuguese, were deeply suspicious of such foreign cults and renamed the city in praise of a more acceptable divine virgin, calling it the ‘City of the Mother of God’. The town was a vital point on the unofficial trade routes in and out of China, only a few miles from the Pearl river delta and the great city of Canton. This location made Macao a place of vital strategic importance, and it would remain so for two more centuries until the nearby village of Hong Kong fell into the hands of the British and superseded it.


The Portuguese had gained a toehold in Macao by clearing the Pearl river estuary of pirates, but their presence at the edge of the Celestial Empire was barely tolerated. They were still not permitted entry into China proper, but the city was home to many traders and missionaries who hoped the strict laws would be lifted. While they waited, they did their best to interest the local Chinese in their cargoes and their religion.


Accompanied by his brothers Bao the Panther and Hu the Tiger, who were probably as much of a handful as he was, the teenage Iquan arrived in Macao at the house of his grandfather Huang Cheng, who was a merchant in the city. The Historical Novel describes ‘a youth eighteen years of age, lazy by nature with no taste for learning; strong-armed, fond of boxing and martial arts. He secretly went to [Macao] in Canton, and visited Huang Cheng, his mother’s father.’7 Considering the recent upheavals back home in Fujian, it is possible that the boys arrived in the company of Lady Huang herself, returning to her family home after her fall from favour.


Life in Macao would have been a great surprise to Iquan, particularly after the stuffy environment of his father’s house. The Huangs were just as keen on advancement and success, but rated material wealth over academic accolades – they were merchants and traders, and Iquan found his natural talents were far better suited to business than study. Business was good for the Huangs, but that did not mean that business was always legal.


Iquan was destined to discover south China’s not-so-secret vice – communication with the outside world. The later emperors preferred to cower behind the natural and man-made barriers that kept the barbarians at bay, but their influence was not allencompassing, even within their own borders. A government report of the time noted that Fujian was a place where ‘cunning bullies can carry out their crafty schemes’. Thanks to the many inlets and secluded harbours along the coast, private traders could flourish, out of the sight of the tax inspector.8


Chinese sailors were permitted to leave port to fish or move goods along the coast to the next local port, but their seaward ventures were supposed to stop there. Supposedly, no Chinese vessel carried more than two days’ fresh water for its crew9 – a rule which should have confined all shipping to the coastline, within reach of resupply. However, the fishermen of Fujian knew what was beyond the horizon. They were, after all, the descendants of the voyagers who had sailed distant oceans in the company of the eunuch mariner Zheng He, and the local city of Quanzhou was still the designated port for receiving embassies from the tributary nation of the Ryukyu Islands. Unlike their landlocked brethren of the hinterland, they saw the sea on a daily basis, and did not fear it.


Chinese vessels could hug a coastline, but were hardly suitable for ocean-going travel. However, as one of the few points on the Chinese coast with a tradition of dealing with foreign places, Fujianese shipwrights knew how to build vessels that could sail to other lands. But these ships were expensive, over ten times the cost of mundane vessels – less wealthy local entrepreneurs found other ways to rig their ships for longer voyages. Within sight of the coast, the Fujianese vessels were flat-bottomed affairs that sat low in the water – only a madman would take one out into the open sea. But as soon as the sailors cleared the watchful eyes of the local law enforcement, they would transform their vessels, bolting fences of split bamboo around the bulwarks to stay waves from washing over the deck, and lowering a giant knife-like wooden blade into the water that served as an auxiliary keel to keep the ships stable.10


Putting out to sea from a Fujian village, a local boat could pretend to make along the coast, before running for the east the moment it was out of sight of land. As the shallow coastal shelf fell away, most Chinese sailors recoiled in fear at the sight of the darkening waters below their vessels, telling horror stories about the ‘Black Ditch’ that lay just off the coast. Dangerous currents and savage sea monsters lurked in the fearsome depths, and stories about them were enough to keep many Chinese sailors reliably close to shore.11 But for the sailors of Fujian, there was something beyond the Black Ditch.


From the ports of Fujian, it was less than two days’ sail to the lawless island of Taiwan. The mandatory two-day supplies were sufficient to sustain the crew for a one-way trip out of Chinese waters and into a whole new world. After restocking in Taiwan, it was possible to hop along the Ryukyu island chain, all the way to the Japanese ports of Hirado and Nagasaki. Other merchants preferred to make the seaward leap out towards the Spanishoccupied Philippines, or smaller hops along the coast of Annam (now known as Vietnam), down towards Java, where the Dutch East India Company had made its base.


The people of Fujian had settled in some of these destinations. Chinese merchants and their families (or, in many cases, their local wives and children) formed distinct Chinatown communities in Manila and Nagasaki. Few of them expected to be permanent immigrants, but as it became economical for organisations to keep representatives in foreign ports, the practice of taking on a temporary foreign posting became known as yadong, or ‘hibernation’. Surely no true Chinese could stay for too long away from the Celestial Empire, but there seemed little harm in a short foreign stay, especially if there was profit to be made.


Officially, China had no foreign trade, but decades of illegal commerce had brought many new items, some of which had exerted a great influence on the culture of the time. The chilli, a vital ingredient in Chinese cookery, particularly in spicy Sichuan cuisine and the hot-sour soup of Beijing, was not native to China at all. This exotic plant was brought to the Philippines from South America by the Spanish, and traded there with Chinese merchants – there were no modern chillies in China before the sixteenth century, and yet today it is impossible to imagine Chinese food without them.


Another import from the New World was tobacco, which followed a similar route to China through Spanish hands. During the 1600s, rumours spread through China that the Fujianese had invented a miraculous breathable smoke that made the inhaler drunk. After early popularity with the sailors, the ‘Dry Alcohol’ plant was soon cultivated in the soil of Fujian itself, and merchants began to process it and sell it as a local product. Hundreds of factories sprang up in Fujian and neighbouring Canton, and the vice took off all over the country – it was particularly popular with soldiers, and one authority reported that by 1650, ‘everyone in the armies had started smoking’.12


But these were relatively minor fads compared with the immense impact of yet another import. In a period of great climactic uncertainty, plagued with floods and famines, the Fujianese merchant Chen Zhenlong was greatly impressed by the high-yield, fast-growing sweet potatoes he saw cultivated in the Philippines. He bought some of the exotic American plants and brought them home, growing them experimentally on a plot of private land. When Fujian was struck by a crippling famine in 1594, the canny Chen approached the governor with his new discovery, and persuaded him to introduce it that season. The venture was rewarded with a crop that saved the lives of thousands of Fujianese. The governor gained the nickname ‘Golden Potato’, and the incident led to the composition of He Qiaoyuan’s ‘Ode to the Sweet Potato’, part of which went:


Sweet potato, found in Luzon


Grows all over, trouble-free


Foreign devils love to eat it


Propagates so easily.


We just made a single cutting


Boxed it up and brought it home


Ten years later, Fujian’s saviour


If it dies, just make a clone.


Take your cutting, then re-plant it


Wait a week and see it grow


This is how we cultivate it


In our homeland, reap and sow.


In a famine we first grew it


In a Fujian starved and rude


But we gained a bumper harvest


People for a year had food.13


The trade was by no means one-way, and rich rewards awaited those who were prepared to take the risks. A length of Chinese silk could sell in Japan for ten times its domestic price. Iron pots and pans could also fetch a high return if anyone was prepared to run the gauntlet up to the Japanese harbours. Owing to a convenient accident of international diplomacy, the Ryukyu Islands were officially a tributary state to both the emperors of Japan and China. Though both nations supposedly frowned on international private trade, it was difficult to prove that a group of Chinese sailors arriving in Nagasaki weren’t actually Ryukyu Islanders, and therefore locals. Equally, when the same sailors were heading for home, they were Ryukyu Islanders until they reached the coast of China, at which point they miraculously transformed into Fujianese fisherman once more, albeit Fujianese whose hold would often turn out to have suspiciously large amounts of Japanese silver in it.


Inspections, however, were rare. In outlawing almost all foreign trade, the Chinese government had effectively criminalised every Fujianese sailor with an interest in making money. This only forced innocent men into the company of rogues, and led many to set their sights on the richer pickings of still greater criminal activities. Bribery and corruption became rife in Fujianese ports, as local harbour masters were encouraged to look the other way when ‘fishing fleets’ put out to sea with no nets but holds full of silk. The more damaging long-term implications came when more hardcore criminal elements realised they had little to lose. Since trade itself was illegal, some reasoned that it was a more economic use of manpower and facilities to equip a fleet, not of merchantmen, but of warships. Lying in wait just off the coast of Fujian, a canny sailor could observe the approach of his rivals’ trading fleets and seize control of their cargoes.


Such an attitude led the merchants to seek their own protection. Fleets of traders began to arm themselves with swords and cannon, and before long the traders of Fujian were in control of vast fleets of warships. This in turn led to them enjoying considerably more attention and respect from the new European arrivals in the region. Realising that these locals would be less of a pushover than those in Africa and the South Sea islands, the Dutch, English and Portuguese at least tried to deal with them civilly, if not with respect, then with acknowledgement of the military might at their disposal.


Amid this time of black-market commerce, the Zheng boys were put to work at Huang’s trading company. Garbled accounts from later Dutch and Chinese sources describe Iquan as a ‘tailor’, so it is likely that much of his early profits rested on Chinese silks. His face also became well known in the alien quarter, where he associated with the Portuguese and their allies, and somehow gained himself a Portuguese ‘godfather’, who left him a substantial sum of money.14 He befriended local missionaries, who taught him Portuguese and baptised him as a Catholic, with the Christian name of Nicholas Gaspard Iquan – Nicholas being the name of his wealthy patron.


It is unlikely that Iquan’s Catholic faith was particularly devout. He adopted it partly out of a desire to learn more about his foreign acquaintances, and partly in gratitude for the success of a missionary doctor in curing his mother of an illness. Later accounts of his faith point to someone who merely treated it as another superstition, rather than a way of life. As one observer noted:


The Portuguese . . . observed that Iquan had a very curious oratory, in which they remarked among other things, the statues of our Saviour and the Virgin Mary, and of diverse other Saints, but it must not be imagined that these were any marks of Christian piety . . . It is very credible that though Iquan had been baptised, yet he was ignorant of the Principles of the Christian faith, for the Portuguese could never observe that he rendered more honour to Jesus than he did to his Idols, neither did they perceive him to do the least action of a Christian . . . [nor did he] ever so much as speak of the Gospels, Sacraments or Commandments either of God or his Church, and as for the manner of his life, that was less Christian, either this uninformed man was so impious, or so ignorant that he equally burnt incense to Jesus Christ and his Idols.15


The foreigners Iquan met through his ‘conversion’ were also sources of information about the outside world – a valuable asset to a would-be traveller. The Portuguese complexion and hair-colour were relatively unthreatening to the tanned, dark-haired southern Chinese, but their settlement contained many examples of more exotic and fearsome foreignness. Many Chinese were petrified of the black slaves the Portuguese had brought from Africa – tall men with skin the colour of demons, who were given a wide berth by superstitious locals. The settlement also had a few residents from northern Europe, described by the Chinese as having ‘the noses of eagles and the eyes of cats’.


One of the most striking alien residents was Adam Schall, a towering, fair-haired German missionary in his late twenties. A Jesuit, Schall had volunteered for a China posting several years earlier. He had endured an eighteen-month sea voyage to Macao, with the disease and deprivation of shipboard life made even more unpleasant by compulsory Chinese lessons. Unlike other religious orders, the Jesuits recognised the importance of fitting in and learning the ways of the cultures they encountered – a policy that was to cause problems for the order in years to come. The Jesuits were also scientists, and insisted that their missionaries had transferrable skills beyond a faith in God. Some of the first Western doctors and engineers in China were Jesuits, but Adam Schall specialised in other matters. He was a trained astronomer and mathematician. He was also something of an expert on artillery – an area of knowledge that was to make him highly popular with the Chinese. But though Schall’s path crossed with Iquan’s in Macao, the two men were from very different worlds. Their separate destinies would eventually find them neighbours again two decades later, a thousand miles away in Beijing, the capital of the Celestial Empire.


Iquan’s charm and linguistic ability (which, by all accounts, was less a gift for languages than a case of being the least-worst at communicating with foreigners), soon took him away from his grandfather, and into the company of more associates of his family. The Historical Novel records Iquan’s big break, when his grandfather wanted to send a cargo of ‘white sugar, calambak wood and musk’16 to Japan. He found a trader prepared to take it on the lucratively illegal run up the Ryukyu Islands, and put Iquan on board to watch over the cargo. Iquan left on the ship as an employee of his grandfather, but would be absent for a long while. The journey convinced him that he had found his true vocation, and he joined the trading organisation of the ship’s owner.


Iquan’s new employer was Li Dan, a Fujianese merchant in his seventies who had long dwelt outside his native land. Once the head of the ‘hibernating’ Chinese community in the Philippines, local legend had it that Li had been enslaved aboard a Spanish galley for nine years, before escaping and establishing himself once more as the lord of the south China smugglers. In his later years, he spent increasingly more time in Japan, where he had several wives and a large mansion. There he was a pillar of the local Chinese community, friend of the Japanese authorities, and also the English merchants, who referred to him as Captain China. His associates (often referred to as ‘brothers’ in contemporary sources) ran much of his operation for him, from headquarters in Manila and Macao. Captain China’s ships followed a forked trade route from Japan, down the Ryukyus to Taiwan, and then either south to the Philippines or west to Fujian, then down the south China coast to Annam and the Gulf of Tonkin. Iquan joined this operation in some capacity at Macao, and accompanied the Captain on voyages south to the Philippines and Annam, and north to Japan. When the Captain decided to remain for an extended stay at his holdings in the Japanese port of Hirado, Iquan stayed with him.


Even Iquan’s travels across Asia could not have prepared him for Japan. The nation stood at the eastern edge of China’s world, whence came its well-known name, the Land of the Rising Sun. It was thought by many to be the mythical island settled by Chinese nobles in the distant past, but also regarded by some emperors as a danger on their doorstep. The Japanese had a fearsome reputation across Asia – they were the nation that had held out against the Mongol conquest several centuries earlier, defying Khublai Khan by calling on the elements themselves to protect them. After conquering all of China, the Mongols had set their sights on Japan, sending a massive fleet across the strait that separated Japan from Korea. Off the coast of Japan, the entire fleet had been wiped out by a terrible storm, which Japanese priests claimed had been sent down by Japan’s guardian deities, a Divine Wind or Kamikaze.


Since the time of the failed Mongol invasion, the Japanese had not presented such a united front. The country had been torn by a century of civil war, which only came to an end in 1603, with the appointment of the barbarian-quelling General (Shôgun) Tokugawa Ieyasu. A Japan at peace, however, could often be bad news for the rest of Asia, as itinerant peasants who normally earned a living as soldiers suddenly found themselves out of work and looking for a new occupation. When there was no war to fight in Japan, the coastlines of the China Sea were regularly plagued by outbreaks of piracy, and many Chinese records spoke of attacks by the Dwarf Barbarians of Japan.17 Now the shogun was master of Japan, the nation was fated to slowly settle into a period of self-imposed seclusion – the years that followed Iquan’s arrival in Japan saw the nation take successive steps to close its doors, in an attempt to shut out the outside world.18 The nation’s last foreign exploit had been an ill-fated invasion of Korea at the close of the sixteenth century, which had at least kept the military classes occupied for a few years. One of the families that benefited most from the Korean operation was the Matsuura of the Nagasaki region, who had gone from disreputable seafarers to landed gentry in the space of a generation. The continued presence of foreign traders in the Nagasaki area owed at least some of its existence to the former contacts and interests of the Matsuura from their seagoing days.19


To prevent them from interfering in local politics, foreigners had been gradually herded into special areas. Hirado and Nagasaki, the ports open to Chinese merchants such as Iquan, were also two of the last places in Japan where the exotic foreigners of distant Europe were still tolerated. The Portuguese, whose Catholic preaching had already caused local troubles for the Japanese, were no longer welcome, but the Protestant Dutch had convinced the shogun that they were more trustworthy. The English, through the influence of their agent Will Adams,20 had similarly capitalised on their non-Catholic status. Dutch, English and Chinese lived together in the enclaves of Hirado and Nagasaki, bringing Iquan into contact with yet more foreigners who were to shape his fate.


Captain China was a person of considerable wealth and influence, described by his English business rivals as ‘now chosen captain chief commander of all the Chinas in Japan, both at Nagasaki, Hirado and elsewhere’.21 He appears in the diaries of the English merchants on several occasions, often encountered at functions hosted by the local lord Matsuura Takanobu, or seen in conference with the governor of Nagasaki. He also appears on the surface to have offered considerable support and encouragement to the English in Nagasaki.


Such bonhomie conceals much of his true nature. His friendliness to the newly arrived English was certainly of no surprise to the Dutch, who were heard to comment that the captain was sly and untrustworthy. The Dutch had been in Hirado for considerably longer, and had already been burnt in several deals with the captain. The English and the Dutch had enjoyed an uneasy truce for some years, but both nations were aware that their mutual rivalry was soon bound to ignite into open hostility once more. The captain glad-handed the English, sent them gifts, invited them to parties, and even asked their leader to be a godfather to his youngest daughter, Elizabeth.22


At the time that Iquan began his association with the captain, the boom trade was in Chinese silk. The captain and his associates had gained a licence from the Shogun to trade in Tonkin, but rarely made it further than the Pescadores Islands off the coast of Taiwan. There, they were welcomed as locals and permitted to anchor and trade with their kinsmen (such as Iquan’s grandfather Huang), who would haul as much silk across from Fujian as they could cram in their boats. Returning to Hirado armed with a few tales about the weather in Tonkin, the brothers would unload their cargo, which had cost them considerably less than similar items obtainable in Annam or Malaya.


Iquan was ideal for this sort of work. The volatile conditions and underworld connections in such deals often required less management than they did riot control. The captain’s business partners were smugglers, criminals and, in the case of some Taiwanese associates, cannibals. Someone with Iquan’s charisma was a distinct asset, particularly with the ability to speak both Chinese and Portuguese, which last was then the international language of trade. Iquan had another attribute which may have endeared him to the aging captain – they were very much alike.


As might be expected after a lifetime of wheeling and dealing, the captain was a supreme conman. His own son, Augustin, was a disappointment to him, having fallen for the preaching of the Portuguese missionaries and converted to the discredited Catholic faith (in fact, as anti-Christian sentiment grew, his grandson was destined to become one of Japan’s martyrs some fifteen years later). Iquan, however, was the Captain’s kind of scoundrel. The boy who could hit a local dignitary with a rock and get away with it, or seduce his own stepmother and somehow escape intact, hit it off very well with the aging sea dog.


Iquan and Captain China certainly shared a sense of humour. At the time Iquan joined his organisation, the captain was several years into an outrageous swindle, involving the hapless representative of the English East India Company in Japan, Richard Cocks.


The English attempt to run a successful Japanese trading post was troubled from the start, when they were forced to dwell in Hirado alongside their Dutch rivals. The English had the opportunity to press for another town, and Will Adams had urged them to try for a port nearer to the centre of the Japanese government, where they would be both closer to the shogun, but also further removed from their detested Dutch enemies. For some reason, the company men ignored Adams’s sound advice, and meekly agreed to base their representatives in Hirado.


The English trade mission at the time was under the leadership of Cocks, a kindly old man whose chief interests were gardening and goldfish. Described euphemistically as ‘honest Mr Cocks’ by his former boss, he was already something of a laughing stock in the town, where he was often seen dragging his wayward underlings out of local brothels, much to the annoyance of local pimps. Cocks’s business was also plagued with numerous warehouse fires and accidents, which he blamed on the Dutch, probably with good reason. Worst of all for the future of English trade, East India Company representatives had arrived in Japan ready to offload vast quantities of cheap fustian cloth, only to discover that the Japanese preferred their own local silks and cottons. Before long, the English shamefacedly admitted that they preferred the Japanese clothes too, which left them with very little worth trading. Consequently, Cocks and his men had pinned all their hopes on the successful opening of the Chinese market, and their desperate longing for a change in their fortunes left them with a misplaced faith in some of the elements they encountered in Hirado.


Captain China was one of the first ‘friends’ the English made in Japan, a coup he achieved by becoming their landlord. The surviving notes on the rental of premises implies that it was in some disrepair, but that the captain somehow convinced the grateful English that he would get round to fixing the problems. He also graciously agreed to fully furnish the house ‘according to the fashion of the country’,23 which, the English later discovered, meant ‘with mats’.


Despite this questionable early encounter, the English had nothing but praise for Captain China, perhaps occasioned by tales of his success in the mainland trade. Cocks was particularly taken with the captain’s profits from his new route to Taiwan, and scandalised to hear that there was so much silk on offer during a recent trip that the captain could only buy half of it. Such tales of riches, true or otherwise, were a great solace to Cocks, who was persuaded to invest 600 taels of silver on Captain China’s next run to the south. Strangely, however, the captain and Iquan never seemed to get quite as good a deal when they were using someone else’s money. Captain China’s trade continued, and he began to direct increasing numbers of his ships east of the Pescadores, to Taiwan itself.


With little clue about the real situation in China or Taiwan, Cocks was forced to believe whatever the captain told him. The Taiwan trade was good most of the time, but not always, particularly when Cocks’s money was involved. The trade into China was even better, but sadly for Cocks he was ethnically unsuited to pass as a local trader. Cocks continued to wine and dine the captain, and though he was reciprocated with matching Chinese hospitality, his chances of ever securing better trade for the East India Company were extremely remote. He did, however, get a number of very nice goldfish out of their friendship – his diary mentions several occasions when his goddaughter Elizabeth would arrive at his house bearing new additions for his ponds. The captain seems to have realised early on that Cocks doted on the girl, and that a visit from her would distract the English trader from asking too many questions about the progress of the China negotiations.


Cocks came to believe that the captain was powerful enough to influence the government of China itself. All the foreign merchants were intensely jealous of the captain’s route into the heart of the world’s largest market when it was still closed to non-Chinese traders. Cocks hopefully wrote to his masters in England that his friends might be able to secure the English a toehold in China proper, as the Dutch had unsuccessfully tried to gain in Canton, and the Portuguese in Macao. Whatever the captain had told him, it was as likely as the English securing a trade agreement with Martians. Cocks’s letters home revealed a man with touching faith in his ‘friends’:


But if it please God we get trade into China, as I hope we shall . . . three or four of my Chinese friends are labouring to get us trade in their country, and do not doubt it will take effect. The place they think fittest is an island and near the city of [Nanjing], to which place we may go from hence, if the wind be good, in three or four days. Our demand is for three ships to come and go . . . If we can but procure this, I doubt not but in short time we may get into the mainland itself.24


As if the English did not have enough trouble, the captain strung them along with more outrageous claims. After relieving Cocks of several thousand taels, the captain told him that the bribe was sufficient to sway local Fujianese officials to listen to his ‘demands’, and that the provision of a similar sum in the future, say, when the current Emperor died, would probably secure the trading agreement he required. When the Emperor remained inconveniently alive for a number of years, the captain instead claimed that the Son of Heaven was planning on resigning, and that strategically placed bribes would secure a sympathetic ear from his successor. When nothing came of that, the captain convinced Cocks that a letter from the King of England, accompanied by suitably valuable ‘gifts’, might be enough to sway the Emperor’s mind. And since, of course, the English could not take their tribute themselves, the captain kindly offered to ferry all their hopeful offerings across to China. Unsurprisingly, however, none of the captain’s entreaties on behalf of the English ever seemed to gain a response from the Chinese government.


Though Cocks was taken in, not all of his countrymen were as gullible. Several English captains commented that Cocks seemed a little too hopeful, though none seem to have made the obvious observation – that the captain was highly unlikely to help foreigners gain legal footholds into the China trade, when it was their exclusion that allowed him to earn his living.


By the time Iquan arrived in Hirado, the captain had fleeced Cocks of 6,250 taels, ostensibly for use in securing the opening of a Chinese treaty port. Cocks had invested an additional four-figure sum in the captain’s own trading missions, not to mention incalculable amounts squandered on gifts and entertainment.


Despite the captain’s bad treatment of Cocks, and the seething enmity with which the Dutch greeted the English arrivals, the residents of Hirado were forced to get along, and were often entertained en masse by the governor. Cocks and the Dutch remained ever at odds, but Captain China’s new assistant was a palpable hit. Nicholas Iquan was particularly popular with the Dutch East India Company representative Jacques Specx – a career company man who was coming to the end of his tour of duty in Japan. Despite Iquan’s association with Captain China, he became firm friends with the Dutchman. Part of this amity can be ascribed to Iquan’s legendary charm, but some of Iquan’s popularity may have stemmed from wily ambitions of Specx’s own. After serving his time in Hirado, Specx was due to return to his Dutch homeland, but he spent barely twelve months of his working life back in the Netherlands. He would soon return to the headquarters of the Dutch East India Company in Java. He would one day be the Governor General of the whole of the Dutch East Indies, and would end his days as one of the seventeen supreme bosses of the Dutch East India Company back in Holland. But Specx’s rise to power was still a long way off. At the time he met Nicholas Iquan, he was still a humble trader in his early thirties, the father of a three-year-old half-Japanese daughter by the name of Sara.


Specx, like his Dutch masters, also coveted a direct route into China, and believed that Captain China and his associates would be best suited to arrange it at some future point. He saw two possible ways of trading with the Chinese – either by stealing Macao from its Portuguese masters, or perhaps planting a base just off the shore of Fujian, on the Pescadores or Taiwan itself. Specx foresaw that the time would come for the Dutch to make their move, and he suspected he would need the help of Captain China’s organisation. But the captain was not a young man, and one day he would have to step down in favour of one of his lieutenants. The natural choice, Augustin, was still part of the organisation, but his focus seemed almost exclusively concentrated on Japan itself – unlike his sea-roving father, Augustin had grown too attached to one place. Iquan, on the other hand, seemed to have the respect of the men in Captain China’s service – Specx cultivated a friendship with someone he saw as the heir apparent. And if Iquan became too powerful and caused too much trouble for the Chinese, of course, the Dutch could always offer to ‘deal with the pirate problem’ in exchange for a treaty port somewhere on the China coast. This was, the Dutch believed, how the Portuguese first secured Macao, and the Dutch were prepared to try a similar tactic themselves.25


Future business partners were not the only contacts Iquan made in Japan. By all accounts, he also fell in love. At one of the local soirées, Lord Matsuura was attended upon by a number of samurai girls, one of whom caught Iquan’s eye. That may have been part of the plan – since she shared a surname with a prominent family in the region, her parents may have been playing Cupid.


Miss Tagawa26 is a figure of some dispute among writers on the history of the Zheng family. Her origins are unclear, and commentators have manipulated the available information to fit their own agendas. Enemies of the Zheng have described her as a courtesan, a common harbour prostitute, or a mere bar-girl whom Iquan encountered on his travels. This is doubtful, as Lord Matsuura would have been unlikely to have had such girls in his public entourage. Other authorities, particularly allies and admirers of the Zheng, have been keen to claim that Tagawa was nothing less than a princess, but this is also unlikely. She may have been the daughter of Tagawa Yazayemon, a samurai in the service of Lord Matsuura – but the word ‘samurai’ has assumed a semi-mythic quality outside Japan. At the time, it was a term applied to every military class from the noblest of knights to the common foot soldier. Miss Tagawa’s lineage fell somewhere between those two categories, but the fact that she was Japanese, and that she was a samurai girl, were two important elements. Her descendants, who still live in Japan to this day, possess a genealogy that traces their lineage seventeen generations before Yazayemon to Taira no Shigemori, a famous medieval warrior, whose father briefly ruled Japan in the name of the emperor. In the unlikely event that the Tagawa genealogy is genuine, it would mean that Miss Tagawa’s nineteenth-generation ancestor was Kammu Tenno, the fiftieth Emperor of Japan. This might at least explain the contradictory tales of her origins – she may have been descended from a living god, but separated from true divinity by over eight hundred years of interbreeding with mere humans.


Meanwhile, Chinese sources, particularly those in a Taiwan keen to gloss over the island’s links to Japan, make other claims for her. Some are eager to speculate that while she grew up in Japan, her ancestors were themselves probably Chinese. Confusion over her names led one source to claim she was herself of mixed Chinese and Japanese blood, and met Iquan through her father or stepfather, a Chinese swordsmith by the name of Weng Yihuang.


The seventeenth-century writer Liu Xianting offered an apocryphal account of the pair’s courtship, which emphasised Iquan’s relatively lowly status at the time:


When [Iquan] was young he fled to Japan. There he did sewing for people in order to earn a living. He had sewn his savings of three coppers into the collar of his clothes, but they fell out. He wandered along a road looking for them. When he could not find his money he burst into tears. There was a Japanese woman, newly widowed, who was standing inside her gate. She saw him searching and asked what the matter was. [Iquan] told her. The woman said: ‘With your talents, it should be easy for you to earn three million coppers as it would be to pick up a blade of grass. How could you come to such a state for three coppers?’ She gave herself to [Iquan] and spent the night with him. When [Iquan] achieved success, he married her.27


Liu was not the only contemporary writer to suggest that Iquan may have been employed as a tailor in Japan, but his tale does seem doubtful. Iquan is unlikely to have been scrabbling over copper coins in the service of Captain China, and ‘when he achieved success’, events conspired to keep him and Tagawa apart for much of the time. Other elements of Liu’s description ring true, however. Miss Tagawa was a year older than Iquan, which would put her in her early twenties. This would have been rather advanced in years for an unmarried woman of her time – perhaps she really was a widow, whom Matsuura retainers hoped to marry off to the charming foreign merchant with prospects.


Whatever the truth behind Tagawa’s background and her first meeting with Iquan, the pair were soon seeing more of each other in a relationship close enough to qualify as common-law marriage in the eyes of commentators of the time. The couple’s later behaviour would suggest that there was a genuine love between them, but their relationship was troubled in the early stages, not just by Iquan’s regular duties abroad, but by political goings-on elswhere. While Miss Tagawa seemed to have been Iquan’s first love, his associates had a more ‘suitable’ spouse in mind.


Captain China’s thoughts on the matter are unrecorded. Whether he or Iquan was the more eager is unclear, but someone in the captain’s organisation wanted Iquan to marry someone else. Iquan was offered the hand of Lady Yan, a Fujianese girl who was probably a daughter of Yan Sixi, another of Captain China’s lieutenants. Considering the organisation’s intermeshing ties of adoption and marriage, Lady Yan may have also been the captain’s granddaughter or niece.28


It was the perfect opportunity for Iquan to cement his alliances. He was being offered the chance to marry into Captain China’s clan; to literally become one of the family. It might not have pleased his prospective relative Augustin, but it would give Iquan an extra lever if he wanted to take control of operations after Captain China died. From the captain’s point of view, such a marriage would also encourage Augustin, Yan Sixi and Iquan to work together for mutual benefit – reducing the chances of a power struggle within the captain’s fleets. As a dynastic alliance it made perfect sense, but there were personal issues involved. If Iquan agreed to a wedding with Lady Yan, it would forever destroy Miss Tagawa’s chances of becoming his principal wife.


However, before Iquan could give the captain his answer, both men were caught up in someone else’s war, much to their personal and financial benefit. The Dutch were just about to attack Macao.
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THE DEAL WITH THE DEVILS



Ships from the Netherlands could sail all the way around the world to the Dutch East India Company at Batavia, the site of modern-day Jakarta. But from there, it was still a long haul to Hirado in Japan – a trading post the Dutch did not gain until 1611. What the Dutch really wanted was a base close to China itself, a port on the outskirts like the Portuguese foothold in Macao. For two decades, the Dutch considered taking Macao itself by force from its Catholic owners. Two vessels made an abortive attempt in 1601, and a flotilla of five junks had been humiliatingly repelled by the Portuguese later that same year. Many of the crew were captured and seventeen of them were hanged, although a couple of younger sailors were spared.


The Dutch, however, were not put off. Far from regarding the Portuguese presence on Macao as unassailable, they merely waited for another chance to oust them. Once a year, the Portuguese would send a galleon heavy with treasure and luxuries to Nagasaki, to return loaded with even more valuable Japanese goods, ready to be routed back to Europe. On 6 June 1604, the Dutch had targeted the galleon instead of its owners, sending Admiral Wybrand van Warwick in the ships Erasmus and Nassau right into Macao harbour. The unprepared Portuguese were forced to stand back and watch as the Dutch stole vast quantities of silk from the galleon as she prepared to leave port.


In 1607, the Dutch tried a different tactic. The Erasmus returned, accompanied by the Orange, the Mauritius and an unnamed yacht, all under the command of Admiral van Maatelief. Instead of attacking the Portuguese, they demanded audience with the Chinese and began negotations for establishing trade relations of their own. For their part, the Chinese were unimpressed with the ingenuity of these new arrivals, assuming that the Dutch were ignorant barbarians whose ancestors had been visited by the great Chinese sailor Zheng He. The Chinese surmised that their famous admiral had somehow reached Europe in his wanderings, and that the Dutch had spent the last two centuries attempting to copy the brilliance of Chinese sailing and shipbuilding techniques through a process of trial and error. The Portuguese, however, were more frightened by the arrival of their enemies, and sent a flotilla of six vessels to chase the Dutch out of port.


[image: images]


Maritime South China.


In 1609, the two contending powers signed a twelve-year truce, but resentment continued to boil beneath the surface. The Dutch gained their foothold in Hirado, but still saw the Portuguese doing better in their trade with the Japanese. In 1619, two years before the truce was due to end, the Dutch and the English signed a short-lived pact in which they promised to aid each other against the Spanish and the Portuguese. With the English no longer a threat, the new Dutch Governor General, Jan Pieterszoon Coen, decided that the capture of Macao would solve all the Dutch traders’ problems. It would give them direct access to Chinese silk from Canton, and reduce their overheads in obtaining material to trade with both the Japanese and their clients back in Europe. It would also effectively cut the Portuguese off from East Asia, and force them to fall back on their distant bases in India. And as an added bonus, it would give the Dutch a port from which they could sail out to intercept the Chinese silk ships sailing to the Spanish-held Philippines.
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